Collective Agreement

~between~

CAMA Woodlands Nursing Home



~and~

The Canadian Union of Public Employees, and its Local 1404.05



April 1, 2023 – March 31, 2026

ma/COPE491

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE
ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION
ARTICLE 3 – UNION SECURITY
ARTICLE 4 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS7
ARTICLE 5 – STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS8
ARTICLE 6 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
ARTICLE 7 – DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE117.05 Access to Personnel Files117.06 Vacation Pay on Termination11
ARTICLE 8 – ARBITRATION 128.01 Referral to Arbitration128.03 Powers of the Board128.04 Decision of the Board128.05 Payment for Board of Arbitration128.06 Single Arbitrator128.08 Time Limits13
ARTICLE 9 – UNION COMMITTEES AND STEWARDS
ARTICLE 10 – SENIORITY15
ARTICLE 11 – LAYOFF AND RECALL1711.01 Layoff and Recall Procedure1711.02 Notice of Layoff1711.03 Layoff Procedure1811.04 Recall Rights1911.07 Notice of Termination of Service19

ARTICLE 12 – CORRESPONDENCE	20
ARTICLE 13 – PROMOTIONS AND DEMOTIONS	20
ARTICLE 14 – JOB POSTING 14.08 Union Notification 14.09 Postings While on Vacation of Leave 14.10 New Classification	22 22
ARTICLE 15 – BULLETIN BOARD	23
 ARTICLE 16 – SICK LEAVE 16.05 Proof of Illness 16.06 Attendance Management ARTICLE 17 – LEAVES OF ABSENCE 17.01 Unpaid Leave 	23 24 24
ARTICLE 18 – LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR UNION BUSINESS	24
ARTICLE 19 – PREGNANCY AND PARENTAL LEAVE 19.01 Pregnancy Leave 19.02 Parental Leave	25 26
ARTICLE 20 – BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	27
ARTICLE 21 – JURY OR COURT WITNESS DUTY	27
ARTICLE 22 – DISCRIMINATION CLAUSE	28
ARTICLE 23 – RETIREMENT	
ARTICLE 24 – TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	31
ARTICLE 25 – SAFETY AND HEALTH	34
ARTICLE 26 – PLURAL OR FEMININE	35
ARTICLE 27 – COPIES OF THE AGREEMENT	36
ARTICLE 28 – NOTICES	36
ARTICLE 29 – HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	

29.08 Reporting Pay	
ARTICLE 30 – PAID HOLIDAYS	38
30.06 Holidays During Vacation	
30.07 Illness During Vacation	
30.08 Christmas or New Years Off	
ARTICLE 31 – VACATIONS	39
ARTICLE 32 – RULES AND REGULATIONS	40
ARTICLE 33 - BREAKS	41
ARTICLE 34 – WAGES	41
34.05 Benefits/Lieu for Part-time	
ARTICLE 35 – GENERAL PROVISIONS	42
35.02 Payment for In-Service	
ARTICLE 36 – TERM OF THE AGREEMENT	
36.02 Changes to the Collective Agreement	43
ARTICLE 37 – GROUP BENEFITS	
37.04 Master Policy	
37.05 Change of Carriers	
APPENDIX "A" – WAGES	46
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1	47
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #2	48

ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE

1.01 The purpose of this agreement is to provide orderly collective bargaining relations between the Facility and the Union, to secure a prompt and fair disposition of grievances, to eliminate interruptions of work and interference with efficient operation of the Facility's business and to provide a spirit of co-operation and harmony between the parties so that they might work together with promotion of a high standard of care for the residents in the Facility.

ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION

2.01 The Facility recognizes the Canadian Union of Public Employees as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all employees of the Central Canadian District of the Christian and Missionary Alliance, operating as CAMA Woodlands in the City of Burlington, save and except supervisors, persons above the rank of supervisor, registered and graduate nurses, office and clerical staff and Chaplaincy staff.

2.02 Work of the Bargaining Unit

Persons whose jobs are not in the bargaining unit shall not work on any jobs, which are included in the bargaining unit, except for the purposes of instruction, experimenting or in emergencies, and provided that the performance of the aforementioned operations, in itself, does not reduce the hours or work or pay of any employee.

2.03 Contracting Out

The Facility shall not contract out any work usually performed by members of the bargaining unit, if, as a result of such contracting out, a layoff of any employee other than a casual employee occurs.

- **2.04** Employees shall co-operate with nurses and other management staff in performing any work reasonably required of them when such work falls within the normal range of their duties.
- **2.05** The Facility recognizes the following categories of employment:

a) Full-Time

A full-time employee is an employee who is regularly scheduled to work an average of 37.5 hours per week.

b) Regular Part-Time

A regular part-time employee is an employee who is regularly scheduled to work less than 37.5 hours per week.

c) Casual

A casual employee is an employee who is not regularly scheduled and works on an on-call basis. Casual employees must provide their availability four (4) weeks in advance of each schedule. They shall provide availability for a minimum of two (2) weekends per schedule. It is agreed that if a casual employee fails to provide their availability for three (3) schedules in a year, without sufficient reason, or indicates their availability to work in the availability book and, when contacted by the Facility, is not available for five (5) consecutive call-ins, they shall lose seniority and service and shall be deemed terminated.

If a casual employee is not available due to being on an approved leave of absence, it will be understood that such call-in will not be included in the five (5) consecutive call-ins, or the availability requirements referred to above.

2.06 No employee covered by this agreement shall be required or permitted to make any written or verbal agreements with the Facility, or its representatives, which may conflict with the terms of this collective agreement. No individual employee or group shall undertake to represent the Union at meetings with the Facility without proper authorization from the Union. In order that this may be carried out, the Union will supply the Facility with the names of its officers. Similarly, the Facility shall supply the Union with a list of its supervisory or other personnel with whom the Union may be required to transact business.

ARTICLE 3 – UNION SECURITY

- **3.01** a) When the Employer knows that an employee may be subject to disciplinary action which is to be recorded in the employee's personnel file, the employee shall have the right to the presence of the Union Steward.
 - b) When an employee is sent home pending investigation of an alleged incident, the employee shall be made aware, in the presence of their Union Steward, of the allegations that led to the investigation being conducted.

3.02 Direct Remittance

Deductions shall be made from the regular bi-weekly payroll and shall be forwarded to the National Secretary-Treasurer of the Canadian Union of Public Employees, by no later than the 15th day of the month following, accompanied by a list of the names, addresses and phone numbers of all employees from whose wage's deductions have been made. A copy of this list shall also be forwarded to the Secretary of the Local Union.

In the case of new employees hired after the effective date of this agreement, check off dues shall commence in the employee's first pay period following date of employment.

The Employer shall deduct from the first pay of such employee an amount equivalent to the Union initiation fee. The amount of such initiation fee shall be certified to the Employer by the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union. In the event of a change to the amount of the initiation fee, the Union will endeavour to provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice to the Employer.

- **3.03** The Union will indemnify and save the Facility harmless for any and all claims which may be against it by an employee or employees for amounts deducted from pay as provided by this article and for any action taken by the Facility at the request of the Union.
- **3.04** The Facility agrees that a Union Steward shall be given the opportunity to interview each new employee who is not a member of the Union, for a period of time not exceeding fifteen (15) minutes, prior to the completion of their probationary period for the purpose of ascertaining if the employee wishes to become a Union member and to advise the employee of the existence of the Union and of their rights and obligations under the terms of this agreement. Such meetings may be arranged collectively or individually for employees of the Facility.

The Facility will endeavour to schedule such meetings during the employee's orientation period.

3.05 T4 Slips

Union dues deducted from the pay of each employee will be shown on the employee's T4 slip.

3.06 Representatives

The Employer agrees to give representatives of the Union access to the premises of the Employer for the purpose of attending grievance meetings or otherwise assisting in the administration of this agreement, provided prior arrangements have been made with management.

ARTICLE 4 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- **4.01** It is the right of the Facility to manage, control, develop and operate its home covered under this agreement in every respect subject only to the specific limitation set out in the collective agreement.
- **4.02** Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is the function and right of the Facility to:
 - a) maintain order, discipline and efficiency;
 - b) hire, classify, direct, approve, promote and layoff employees;
 - c) discharge, transfer, layoff, recall, promote, demote, classify, assign duties, suspend or discipline employees provided that a claim of discriminatory transfer, promotion, demotion or classification, or claim that an employee who has completed their probationary period provided in Article 10.03 has been

discharged or disciplined without a reasonable cause may be the subject of a grievance and dealt with as herein provided.

- d) determine the work to be done, the location, methods and schedules for the performance of such work;
- e) to determine the number of employees required and the duties to be performed by each from time to time, subject to discussion with the Union upon the Union's request;
- f) to make and alter from time-to-time reasonable rules and regulations to be observed by the employees. Prior to posting these rules a copy will be forwarded to the Union.

ARTICLE 5 – STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

5.01 In view of the orderly procedures established by this agreement for settling of disputes, and the handling of grievances, the Union agrees that during the life of this agreement there will be no strike and the Facility agrees that there will be no lockout in accordance with the *Labour Relations Act* and the *Hospital Labour Disputes Arbitration Act (HLDAA)* and Regulations.

ARTICLE 6 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

6.01 Definition of a Grievance

A grievance is defined as a difference arising between the parties relating to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the agreement including any questions as to whether a matter is arbitrable. An earnest effort shall be made to settle grievances fairly and promptly in the following manner.

Step 1

If an employee has a complaint or dispute, they will discuss it with their supervisor within seven (7) days of the date the facts giving rise to the grievance came to their attention or should have come to their attention. The supervisor will reply, in writing, to the employee with their decision within seven (7) days of the discussion.

Step 2

Failing satisfactory settlement, within seven (7) days after the decision is given in Step 1, the employee who may request the assistance of their Steward or representative of the Union shall submit the grievance in writing to the Administrator of the Facility. A meeting will then be held between the Administrator or their designated representative, and the employee. It is understood that at such meeting, the Administrator or their designated representative may have such counsel and assistance as they may desire, and the employee may have their Steward, and that the business agent of the Union or any representative may be present at the request of either the employee or the Facility. The decision of the Administrator, or their designated representative, shall be given in writing, within seven (7) working days following the meeting.

Step 3

Should the Administrator or their designated representative fail to render a decision as required in Step 2, or failing settlement of any grievance, a grievance may be referred to arbitration by either the Facility or the Union. If no written request for arbitration is received within ten (10) working days, under Step 2 of the grievance procedure, the grievance shall be deemed to have been abandoned, and the same grievance shall not be subject matter of further grievance.

- **6.02** A grievance shall be on a form supplied by the Union and shall contain a statement of the matter complained of, the redress sought, and shall be signed by the grievor submitting the grievance. If the grievance is a group grievance, the grievance form will be signed by the Steward. If the grievance is a policy grievance it will be signed by the Unit Chairperson.
- **6.03** No grievance shall be considered in any step unless it has been properly carried through all previous steps of the grievance procedure required by this agreement, except that if at any step of this grievance procedure, the Facility or the Union does not give its decision within the allotted time limit, the grievance may be carried to the next step within the appropriate time which shall start to run from the expiration of the allotted time within which the decision should have been given.
- **6.04** A complaint or grievance arising directly between the Facility and the Union concerning the interpretation, application or alleged violation of the agreement shall be originated at Step 2 within fourteen (14) days following the circumstances giving rise to the complaint or the grievance. It is expressly understood, however, that the provisions of Article 6.04 may not be used with respect to a grievance directly affecting the employee which such employee could themself institute and the regular grievance procedure shall not be thereby bypassed.

6.05 Group Grievance

Where a number of employees have identical grievances and each employee would be entitled to grieve separately, they may present a group grievance, in writing to the Administrator or designate within fourteen (14) days after the circumstances giving rise to the incident occurring or might reasonably to have come to the attention of the employee(s). The grievance shall then be initiated at Step 2 and the applicable provisions of this article shall apply with respect to the processing of such grievance.

6.06 Policy Grievance

Any difference arising directly between the Employer and the Union involving the interpretation, application or alleged violation of this Agreement may be submitted in writing as a policy grievance to the Administrator or designate within fourteen (14) days after the circumstances giving rise to the incident occurring or might reasonably to have come to the attention of the Union. The grievance shall be initiated at Step 2 and the applicable provisions of this article shall apply with respect to the processing of such grievance.

6.07 Facility Grievance

It is understood that the Facility has access to the grievance procedure and arbitration procedures in the same manner and to the same extent as the employee. It is further agreed that the Facility may bring forward complaints and grievances within the terms of the agreement.

- **6.08** The time limits in both the grievance and arbitration procedure may be extended by written mutual consent.
- **6.09** "Working day" as used in the grievance and arbitration procedure shall mean a day other than Saturday, Sunday or a recognized paid holiday.
- **6.10** All agreements reached under the grievance procedure, which includes arbitration, between the representatives of the Facility and representatives of the Union, will be final and binding upon the Facility and the Union employees.
- **6.11** No adjustments effected under the grievance procedure or arbitration procedure shall be made retroactive beyond the date when the event complained of first came to the knowledge of the grievor or should have come to the knowledge of the grievor. This paragraph shall not restrict any adjustment of clerical error made in computation of pay.
- **6.12** It is agreed that, with mutual consent of the Facility and the Union, a meeting may take place at any time prior to the commencement of the arbitration proceedings, for the purposes of settlement of the grievance.
- **6.13** A grievance which has been disposed of pursuant to the grievance and/or arbitration provisions of this agreement shall not again be made the subject matter of further grievance.
- **6.14** The Union and the Facility agree that, during any point of the grievance or arbitration procedure, the parties upon mutual consent can use the services of a grievance mediation officer to resolve matters. It is understood the cost of the mediation officer will be shared between the parties.
- **6.15** The Facility agrees that the CUPE National Representative can be in attendance during any stage of the grievance or arbitration procedure.

6.16 All grievances will be responded to in writing.

ARTICLE 7 – DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE

- **7.01** Whenever the Facility deems necessary to suspend or dismiss an employee, who for the purposes of this article means an employee who has completed their probationary period as provided in Article 10.01, the Facility shall within five (5) calendar days thereafter, give written notice of the dismissal or suspension with copies to the Unit Chair and President. Such notice shall include a general statement concerning the cause for dismissal or suspension.
- **7.02** All grievances commenced under Article 7 shall be taken up within ten (10) calendar days of the date of dismissal or suspension. For clarity, it is understood grievances filed under this article shall be initiated at Step 2 of the grievance procedure as per Article 6.
- **7.03** Such special grievances may be settled by confirming the Facility's actions in dismissing the employee or reinstating the employee with full compensation for time lost, or by any other arrangement, which is just and equitable in the opinion of the conferring parties, or by the Board of Arbitration as the case may be.
- **7.04** Letters of reprimand and suspension will be removed from an employee's personnel file in sixteen (16) months following receipt provided that the employee's record has been discipline free for the said sixteen (16) month period, except in the cases of incidents involving resident abuse, and where the allegation is not resolved between the parties or overturned by an arbitrator where the record will remain on file for twenty-four (24) months provided that the employee's record has been discipline free for the said twenty-four (24) month period.

7.05 Access to Personnel Files

Upon giving two (2) working days' notice, an employee shall have the opportunity to review the contents of their personnel file at a mutually agreeable time in the presence of an employer representative. The employee will be allowed to make copies of any documents contained therein. The employee shall have the right to respond in writing to any document placed in the file in the current year from the last date of review. Such reply shall become part of the permanent record, or until such time as the document it is replying to is removed pursuant to article 7.04.

7.06 Vacation Pay on Termination

An employee terminating employment shall be entitled to payout of any unused vacation upon date of termination.

ARTICLE 8 – ARBITRATION

8.01 Referral to Arbitration

It is agreed by the parties hereto that any difference of opinion relating to the interpretation, application or administration of this agreement which cannot be settled after exhausting the grievance procedure shall be settled by arbitration. A notice of intent to arbitrate shall be forwarded to the other party within the time limits set out in Article 6 and such notice shall contain the name of the Union's nominee to the arbitration board. Within five (5) working days from the receipt of the notice of intent to arbitrate, the other party must in turn name their nominee. A third person to act as Chairman shall be appointed by the respective nominees. Should either party fail to name their nominee within five (5) working days or should the nominees fail to appoint a Chairman within ten (10) working days from the date of their appointment, either party or their nominee shall request the Office of Arbitration, Ontario Ministry of Labour, to make the appropriate appointment.

8.02 No person may be appointed as an Arbitrator who has been involved in an attempt to negotiate or settle the grievance.

8.03 Powers of the Board

It is agreed and understood that the arbitration board shall have no authority to alter, modify or annul any part of this agreement. However, the arbitration board shall have authority to substitute such other penalty for the discharge or discipline as the arbitration board deems just and reasonable in all circumstances.

8.04 Decision of the Board

The arbitration board shall hear and determine the matter and shall issue a decision which shall be in writing and contain the reasons for the decision. The decision of the majority shall be the decision of the arbitration board, but if there is no majority decision, the decision of the Chairman will govern.

8.05 Payment for Board of Arbitration

Each of the parties hereto shall bear the expense of the nominee appointed by it, and the parties hereto shall jointly bear equally the expense of the third party, and any cost of the place of hearing of such arbitration, if and when the necessity arises.

8.06 Single Arbitrator

The Facility and the Union agree that by mutual written agreement of the parties, a sole Arbitrator may be substituted for a board of arbitration. The appointment and jurisdiction of the Arbitrator shall conform to the provisions of this article. Each party shall pay one-half (1/2) of the fees and expenses of the arbitrator and any costs of the place of hearing of such arbitration if and when the necessity arises.

8.07 Should the parties disagree as to the meaning of the Board's decision, either party may apply to the Chair of the Board of Arbitration to reconvene the Board to clarify the decision, which it shall do within fourteen (14) calendar days.

8.08 Time Limits

The time limits mentioned in this article and in the preceding article may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties.

ARTICLE 9 – UNION COMMITTEES AND STEWARDS

9.01 The Facility recognizes the right of the Union to appoint or otherwise select from among those employees who have completed their probationary period and who are covered by this agreement, five (5) stewards, one of which shall be the Chief Steward, whose responsibility it shall be to assist employees in preparing and presenting grievances in accordance with the grievance procedure.

The Union shall notify the Employer in writing the name of each steward before the Employer shall be required to recognize them. The Employer agrees that stewards shall not be hindered, coerced, restrained, or interfered with in the performance of their duties while investigating disputes and presenting adjustments as provided for in the collective agreement.

9.02 The Facility recognizes that the Union has the right to appoint select a Negotiating Committee consisting of four (4) Union representatives. All members of the Committee shall be regular employees of the Facility, who have completed their probationary period.

The Facility agrees to pay members of the Negotiating Committee for straight time wages lost from their regularly scheduled working hours spent in direct negotiations for a renewal agreement up to but not including arbitration.

The Local Union President or designate shall be recognized as an additional member of the Negotiating Committee when the Local Union President is not an employee of the Facility. All costs related to a non-employee Local Union President or delegate's participation at bargaining shall be the responsibility of the Union.

9.03 The Union agrees to notify the Facility of the names of the stewards and members of the Negotiating Committee when such an employment or replacement is made.

The Facility will not be required to recognize employees appointed by the Union to such position until such notification by the Union is provided.

9.04 The Union understands that each steward is employed to perform their regular work duties for the Facility. Therefore, no steward shall leave their work without obtaining the permission of their supervisor. The Facility shall notify the steward within one (1) hour of the request as to when they may leave their place of work. The steward shall state their destination to their supervisor and shall report to the supervisor at the time of their return to work. The Facility reserves the right to limit the steward's absence from their work if the time taken is considered excessive or if the steward

does not perform their duties under this agreement in a prompt manner. Such permission shall not be unreasonably denied. The steward shall not suffer any loss of pay during their scheduled hours of work for time missed in direct dealings with the Facility and up to and including Step 2 of the grievance procedure but not arbitration.

9.05 Labour Management

- A joint Labour-Management committee shall be constituted to deal with matters not properly dealt with in negotiations or grievances. The Committee shall be comprised of an equal number of representatives of the Facility and the Union (not to exceed three (3) from the Facility and three (3) from the Union). Meetings of the Committee will be held once every two (2) months unless otherwise agreed. The National Representative of the Union and the Human Resource Consultant for the Facility may also attend.
- b) An employee representative attending such meeting shall be paid for wages lost from regularly scheduled hours. Employees who attend Labour Management meetings, when not scheduled to work, shall be paid their regular rate of pay for time spent at such meetings to a maximum payment of two (2) hours. It is understood that such hours would not constitute hours worked for the purpose of calculating overtime.
- c) At the time notice of meeting is issued, either party must notify the other party if their representatives will be in attendance.
- d) The Union and Facility's respective representatives shall share chairing duties on an alternating basis. The Chair shall be responsible for taking minutes of the meeting and distributing these minutes to all other Committee members within fourteen (14) calendar days of the meeting for review and comment. All Committee members shall return these signed minutes, with their comments, if any, within seven (7) calendar days of receiving them. Upon incorporating any necessary comments, the two co-chairs all sign and post these minutes.

A request for a meeting will be made in writing one (1) week prior to the date proposed and accompanied by an agenda of matters proposed to be discussed.

- e) Grievances shall not be discussed at the Labour Management Committee.
- f) In the event that the assignment of a number of patients or workload to an individual employee or group of employees is such as they have cause to believe that they are being asked to perform more work then is consistent with proper patient care or proper allowable time complete assigned tasks, they shall:

Complain in writing to the Labour Management Committee. The workload complaint, to the extent possible, shall be detailed as to facts and reasons. The written workload complaint must constitute an agenda item for discussion at the

Labour Management meeting. Both the written complaint and written response shall be attached to and form part of the minutes from the meeting where the complaint was discussed.

9.06 No individual employee or group of employees shall undertake to represent the Union at meetings with the Employer without proper authorization from the Union. In order that this may be carried out, the Union will supply the Employer with the names of its officers. Similarly, the Employer shall supply the Union with a list of its supervisory or other personnel with whom the Union may be required to transact business.

ARTICLE 10 – SENIORITY

- **10.01** A newly hired employee must successfully complete a probationary period of sixty (60) days worked or four hundred and fifty (450) hours worked which would include days not worked but paid for by the Facility, whichever is longer. On completion of this probationary period, seniority shall date from the date of last hire. The employment of such employees may be terminated at any time during the probationary period without recourse to the grievance procedure, unless the Union claims discrimination as noted in Article 22 as the basis of termination.
- **10.02** Seniority shall be recognized by the Facility on a bargaining unit wide basis.

In regards to master work schedules, an employee may exercise their seniority when a vacancy occurs, when they return to their position following a completed temporary vacancy, when the master work schedules are changed, and the changes affect the employee, the employee may bump within their own classification, and during a layoff or recall.

10.03 The Facility agrees to keep a seniority list for all bargaining unit employees.

There will be a separate seniority list for full-time and part-time employees. The parttime seniority will be based on hours worked.

Part-time employees will accumulate seniority on the basis of one (1) year's seniority for each 1725 hours worked in the bargaining unit.

For application of seniority for purposes of promotion, demotion, transfer, layoff and recall:

An employee whose status has changed from full-time to part-time shall receive full credit for their seniority;

An employee whose status is changed from part-time to full-time shall receive credit for their seniority on the basis of one (1) year for each 1725 hours worked.

Notwithstanding the above, a part-time employee cannot accrue more than one years

seniority in a twelve (12) month period.

Seniority, as set out on the posted seniority list, will be used for all of the purposes set out in the collective agreement save and except for promotions and layoffs. For promotions and layoffs, the seniority list will be updated to the end of the pay period prior to the pay period during which the job was posted, or the notice of layoff was given.

All seniority, vacation and other credits obtained under this agreement shall be retained and transferred with the employee when reclassified.

- **10.04** Seniority shall be retained and accumulated when an employee is absent from work under the following conditions:
 - a) when on an approved leave of absence with pay;
 - b) when on an approved leave of absence without pay, not exceeding thirty (30) consecutive calendar days;
 - c) when in receipt of Workers' Compensation as a result of injury incurred while in the employment of the Facility for a period of twenty-four (24) months;
 - d) when on pregnancy leave and/or parental leave, or any other legislative leave;
 - e) when absent due to illness or accident unrelated to Workers' Compensation for a period up to twenty-four (24) months. Prior to the automatic termination of employees under this clause, the Employer agreed to review the employee's status to ensure that any action taken by the Employer complies with the *Human Rights Code.*
- **10.05** Seniority shall be retained but not accumulated when an employee is absent from work under the following conditions:
 - a) when on an approved leave of absence without pay, not provided for above.
 - b) when absent due to layoff of up to twenty-four (24) months.
- **10.06** Updated seniority lists shall be maintained by the Facility and posted semi-annually effective June 30 and December 30 of each year. A copy shall be sent to the Union. All employees shall have ten (10) working days to challenge the list.
- **10.07** An employee shall not lose seniority rights if they are absent from work because of sickness, accident, layoff or leave of absence approved by the Facility except as noted otherwise in Article 10.05 and 10.06.

Seniority status, once acquired, will be lost, and the employee will be deemed

terminated for the following reasons:

- a) they are discharged for just cause and not reinstated;
- b) they resign and do not rescind within twenty-four (24) hours;
- c) they are absent from work in excess of three (3) consecutive working days without sufficient cause or without notifying the Facility unless such notice was not reasonably possible;
- d) they fail to return to work within seven (7) calendar days following a layoff and after being notified by registered mail to do so, unless through sickness or other just cause, they are unable to do so. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to keep the Facility informed of their current address;
- e) they overstay a leave of absence without satisfactory reasons;
- f) they are laid off for a period longer than twenty-four (24) months;
- g) they are absent due to illness or disability for a period of thirty (30) calendar months from the time the disability or illness commenced and there is no likelihood that the employee will return to work in the foreseeable future;
- h) they fail to return to a modified work program when such a program has been approved by the employee's physician.

ARTICLE 11 – LAYOFF AND RECALL

11.01 Layoff and Recall Procedure

Both parties recognize that job security should increase in proportion to length and quality of service. Layoffs shall include the reduction of bi-weekly hours of any full-time or part-time employee.

Therefore, in the event of a layoff, employees shall be laid off in accordance with Article 10 – Seniority. However, the Facility will retain sufficient employees in each classification in order to continue to provide competent nursing care for residents of the Facility. Employees shall be recalled in the order of their seniority, providing they are qualified to do the work.

11.02 Notice of Layoff

In the event of a proposed layoff of a permanent or long-term nature of thirteen (13) calendar weeks or more, the Facility will:

a) provide the Union with at least twelve (12) weeks' notice prior to its implementation. This notice is not in addition to required notice for individual employees.

b) provide affected employees with notice in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act*. However, *the Act* will be deemed to be amended to provide notice to the affected employees as follows:

If their service is greater than 9 years – 9 weeks' notice; If their service is greater than 10 years – 10 weeks' notice; If their service is greater than 11 years – 11 weeks' notice; If their service is greater than 12 years – 12 weeks; notice.

c) Meet with the Union, through the Labour Management Committee to review the reasons and expected duration of the layoff, any realignment of service or staff and its effect on employees in the bargaining unit.

Any agreement between the Facility and the Union resulting from the above process concerning the method, timing and implementation will take precedence over other terms of layoff and related provisions in the collective agreement.

11.03 Layoff Procedure

In the event of a layoff, employees shall be laid off in reverse order of seniority, provided that those employees retained at work by reason of seniority have the skill and qualifications required to perform the work.

Any employee who is subject to layoff shall have the right to either:

- a) accept the layoff, or
- b) opt to retire, if eligible under the terms of the pension plan, or
- c) be awarded, based on seniority a vacant position which they are qualified to do, or
- d) displace an employee who has:
 - less bargaining unit seniority in a lower or identical paying classification, and
 - who has scheduled hours less than or equal to the employee being laid off, and
 - if the employee originally subject to layoff is qualified for and can perform the duties with training other than orientation.
- e) An employee who wishes to exercise their right to displace another employee with less seniority shall advise the Employer within seven (7) days of the date of the notice of layoff issued by the Employer.
- f) For the purpose of the operation of clause d), laid off part-time employees shall

not have the right to displace full-time employees.

g) In the event that an employee is laid off from the full-time bargaining unit and provided that no other full-time bargaining unit positions are available for which the employee is qualified and able to perform, the full-time bargaining unit employee shall then be allowed to displace a part-time bargaining unit employee with less seniority provided that the employee is qualified and able to do the work available.

11.04 Recall Rights

- a) An employee shall have the opportunity of recall from layoff to an available opening in order of seniority, providing they have the ability to perform the work, before such opening is filled on a regular basis under the job posting procedure. The posting procedure in the collective agreement shall not apply until the recall process has been completed.
- b) No new employees shall be hired until all those laid off have been given an opportunity to return to work and have failed to do so as outlined in part a) above.
- c) It is the responsibility of the employee who has been laid off to notify the Facility of their intention to return to work within seven (7) calendar days after being notified to do so by registered mail, (which notification shall be deemed to have been received on the second date of mailing) and return to work within seven (7) calendar days after being notified. The notification shall state the job to which the employee is eligible to be recalled and the date and time at which the employee shall report for work. The employee is solely responsible for their proper address being on record with the Facility.
- d) Employees on layoff or notice of layoff shall be given preference for temporary vacancies, which are expected to exceed twenty (20) days of work. An employee who has been recalled to such temporary vacancy shall not be required to accept such recall and may instead remain on layoff. This provision supersedes the job posting provision.
- **11.05** Grievances concerning layoffs and recalls shall be initiated at Step 2 of the grievance procedure.
- **11.06** No full-time employee in the bargaining unit shall be laid off by reason of their duties being assigned to one (1) or more part-time employees.

11.07 Notice of Termination of Service

An employee will be required to submit a written resignation at least two (2) weeks in advance of the termination date, except in cases of emergency or where such notice is not reasonably possible. Failure to do so will result in the employee receiving vacation allowance for any unused portion of vacation credits owing to them only in

accordance with the provisions of the *Employment Standards Act*. Any dispute between the parties as to whether a reason was or was not in an "emergency situation" or "not reasonably possible" shall be submitted to Step 2 of the grievance procedure as herein provided.

ARTICLE 12 – CORRESPONDENCE

12.01 All correspondence between the parties, arising out of this agreement or incidental thereto shall pass to and from the Administrator or their designate and the President of the Union, unless otherwise provided herein.

ARTICLE 13 – PROMOTIONS AND DEMOTIONS

- **13.01** If an employee is promoted or reclassified other than on a temporary basis to a higher rate group they shall not receive less than the rate that they were receiving at the time of the promotion, or the starting rate for the job into whichever they are being promoted, whichever is the higher, and shall be advanced through the rates for the job group as provided in Appendix "A".
- **13.02** An employee may be transferred from one classification to another, carrying a rate in a higher range for a period not exceeding four (4) consecutive hours, without changing their rate of pay. Such transfer shall be called a temporary transfer and shall not be affected by the subsequent provision of this article, provided that if any employee works more than four (4) consecutive hours in a classification carrying a rate in a higher range, they shall be paid at such a higher range, from the first hour such work performed for such period of time as the employee works in a higher rate of classification.
- **13.03** If an employee posts to a lower-rated classification, the employee shall receive in the new classification, the rate below the employee's present wage rate, and shall progress within the scale for such lower rated classification, according to the length of service within such a lower rated classification, subsequent to the date of the transfer provided that, if the employee is at the maximum level in the present classification, the employee shall receive not less than the maximum level of the lower classification.

ARTICLE 14 – JOB POSTING

14.01 When a full-time or regular part-time vacancy occurs, or a new full-time or regular part-time position is created within the bargaining unit, the Facility shall post for five (5) working days a notice of such vacancy on the union bulletin board in order that employees may have an opportunity to apply for such positions. No posting will be made in the case of temporary vacancies which are not expected to exceed eight (8) weeks, which vacancies shall include those caused by illness, vacation periods, leaves of absence, etc. Notices shall contain the following information:

- i) general nature of position;
- ii) required knowledge and education;
- iii) shift and hourly rate.

The Facility agrees that, in the matters of promotion or staff transfer, appointment shall be made of the senior applicant able to meet the normal requirements of the job.

Seniority shall be based on the seniority of the employee as of the posting date.

- **14.02** It is understood that no outside applicant shall be considered until Article 14.01 has been exhausted.
- **14.03** The Facility shall advise the Union, in writing, of the requirement to fill a temporary position that has a definite term or task. The temporary position shall not exceed twelve (12) months.

Temporary positions expected to exceed eight (8) weeks will be posted and filled as required by Article 14.01 and 14.02 above. In the event that a current bargaining unit employee is the successful incumbent to the vacancy, they shall revert back to their previous position/classification in the bargaining unit upon completion.

In the event the position is filled by an employee outside the bargaining unit, the Facility shall advise the incumbent that they will be a member of CUPE Local 1404 for the time they are employed and they shall pay union dues and have all rights under the provisions of the collective agreement except that the release or discharge of such an employee, due to the end of the temporary position, shall not be the subject of a grievance or arbitration. The Facility shall further advise the incumbent of the date they will complete their employment with the Facility.

- **14.04** An employee who is awarded a job as a result of a job posting within the bargaining unit will have their work reviewed over a seventy-five (75) working hour's assessment period. If during this assessment period it is determined by the Facility that the employee does not demonstrate the ability to do the new job, or the need for the job no longer exists, or if the employee finds themself unable to perform the duties of the new job, they shall revert to their former job and rate with no loss of, or interruption in, seniority. It is understood that no further job posting is required if there are other applicants to the original job posting who possess the knowledge, qualifications, skills and efficiency to perform the job.
- **14.05** It is agreed that the successful applicant of the job posting procedure will not be permitted to reapply for any other posted job vacancy for a period of six (6) months unless such posting will result in the employee improving her category of employment as defined in Article 2.05.
- **14.06** The Facility will post the name of the successful applicant when the posting has been

filled. The Facility will discuss with unsuccessful applicants what they need to do to improve for any future vacancy if requested by the applicant.

14.07 Only the original job vacancy and the first vacancy from the successful applicant will be posted. Vacancies arising out of the second posting will be filled by the Facility.

14.08 Union Notification

The Union shall be notified of all appointments, hirings, layoffs, recalls and terminations of employment.

Notices of such appointments shall also be posted.

The Union will be supplied a copy of each posting.

14.09 Postings While on Vacation of Leave

When an employee will be absent on vacation and/or leave of absence, the employee may advise their manager, in writing, and no more than seven (7) days prior to beginning the vacation, that they wish to be considered for any potential job posting which might arise during their vacation. The written notice must specify the job or position for which the employee wishes to be considered. If such a job or position then arises during the employee's vacation, the written notice will be considered an application. The written notice is only valid during the vacation period immediately following its delivery to the manager.

14.10 New Classification

When a new classification within the bargaining unit is established by the Employer, the Employer shall determine the rate of pay for such new classification. Once the rate is determined, and then within seven (7) days, the Employer shall advise the Union of the rate.

If the Union disagrees with the rate, it shall have the right to request a meeting with the Employer. At such meeting, the parties will review the rate; the Employer's rationale for establishing the rate, and the reasons the Union disagrees with the rate. If the parties reach agreement, the agreement is effective as of the date on which the Employer gave the Union notice of the new rate.

When the Employer makes a substantial change in the job content of an existing classification which in reality causes such classification to become a new classification, the Employer agrees to meet with the Union if requested to permit the Union to make representation with respect to the appropriate rate of pay.

If the parties are unable to reach an agreement, either party may refer the dispute to arbitration, as provided in this agreement, provided the referral is made within fifteen (15) days of the meeting.

Any decision by a Board of Arbitration, or Arbitrator as the case may be, shall be

based on the relationship established by comparison with the rates for other classifications in the bargaining unit having regard to the requirements of such classifications.

Any change awarded as a result of arbitration shall be retroactive only to the date on which the Employer gave the Union notice of the new rate.

ARTICLE 15 – BULLETIN BOARD

15.01 The Facility agrees to supply and make available to the Union for posting of seniority lists and union notices, one (1) bulletin board in a staff area. It is agreed that no notices will be posted on the bulletin board without prior approval by the Administrator.

ARTICLE 16 – SICK LEAVE

16.01 Full-time employees will receive a maximum of twelve (12) sick days per year. Sick days will be accumulated at the rate of one (1) day per calendar month. New employees will be credited with sick leave days after completing their probationary period. The unused portion of the days will be placed in a cumulative sick leave bank at the end of the calendar year.

When an employee is given a leave of absence without pay for any reason or is laid off on account of lack of work and returns to work upon expiration of a leave of absence or is recalled to work after a layoff, they shall not receive sick leave credit for the period of such absence, but shall retain their cumulative credit, if any, existing at the commencement of such leave or layoff.

- **16.02** If an employee is unable to work, they shall give the Facility a minimum of three (3) to eight (8) hours' notice, except in an emergency situation. In case notice is not given in the required time, the employee may lose their eligibility for the first sick day as outlined in Article 16.01. If an employee recovers from their illness and can report for work, they shall be allowed to report, providing they inform the Facility at least eight (8) hours prior to the time they are scheduled to report.
- **16.03** Employees will have access to sick leave credits until such time as the employee's claim for benefits, including appeal, is determined by WSIB.
- **16.04** Employees may be allowed to use accumulated sick leave credits in order to engage in personal preventative medical health and dental care.

Requests shall be made two (2) weeks in advance, unless impossible.

16.05 Proof of Illness

Following three (3) consecutive days of illness, an employee may be required to provide a doctor's certificate, certifying that the employee was unable to carry out

their duties due to illness. If there is a cost to the employee for the medical certificate, it will be paid for by the Employer, upon submission of a receipt.

The Employer shall have the right to require an employee to produce a medical certificate for a period of less than three (3) days absence due to illness if an employee's record indicates a pattern of intermittent absenteeism. The cost of any certificate provided will be paid by the employer upon submission of a receipt.

16.06 Attendance Management

Days of absence arising out of a medically-established serious chronic condition, an ongoing course of treatment, a catastrophic event, absence for which WSIB benefits are payable, medically necessary surgical interventions, or days where the employee is symptomatic and is under a doctor's care from the commencement of symptoms for a confirmed communicable disease (and has provided medical substantiation of such symptoms) but is required to be absent under the hospital or public health authority protocol, will not be counted for the purposes of being placed on, or progressing through, the steps of an attendance management program.

Leaves covered under the *Employment Standards Act*, and leaves under Article 16 will not be counted for the purposes of being placed on, or progressing through, the steps of an attendance management program.

ARTICLE 17 – LEAVES OF ABSENCE

17.01 Unpaid Leave

Leaves of absence, without pay, for legitimate personal reasons, may be granted by the Facility, upon written request, and such leave will not be unreasonably denied.

Requests for an unpaid leave of absence shall be submitted to the employee's supervisor at least three (3) weeks in advance or as soon as practicable to do so, except in cases of emergency.

ARTICLE 18 – LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR UNION BUSINESS

18.01 Leave of absence, without pay and without loss of seniority, will be granted upon request to the Facility by employees elected or appointed to represent the Union at union functions, provided such leave of absence does not interfere with efficient operations and such request is made in writing at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the commencement of the leave.

The conditions set out above apply provided that:

i) No more than five (5) employees shall be absent for the same or overlapping period and no more than one (1) of those shall be from each department save for the Nursing/Restorative Department where up to three (3) employees may be absent.

- ii) The aggregate total of such leave for the bargaining unit shall not exceed eighty-five (85) days for any one (1) calendar year. For the purpose of this provision, the parties recognize the following Departments:
 - Nursing/Restorative
 - Activation
 - Dietary
 - Environmental Services
- iii) When an employee is absent due to a union leave under Article 18.01, the Facility shall pay the employee their normal wages and shall bill the Union for an amount equal to the cost of wages and benefits received by the employee during the leave of absence.

The Employer shall consider providing additional days of unpaid leave based on operational needs.

18.02 The Facility will grant a leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority, for a period of one (1) year, following application by the Union to any employee who is elected or selected for a full-time position of one (1) year duration with the Union, the CLC, the OFL, the Ontario Division or the National body of CUPE. The Union will give at least four (4) weeks' notice for such leave of absence. It is understood that no more than one (1) employee in the bargaining unit may be on such leave at the same time. If the employee returns to the bargaining unit immediately following the one (1) year leave of absence, they shall be entitled to claim their former position or if the former position is no longer available, a comparable position if available. It is agreed that for the purpose of WSIB or any other employee benefits provided by the Union.

Such leave may be renewed for an additional one (1) year at the request of the employee. Such request must be made, in writing, to the Facility, at least four (4) weeks prior to the expiration of the first leave.

The employee shall notify the Facility of their intention to return to work at least four (4) weeks prior to the date of such return.

ARTICLE 19 – PREGNANCY AND PARENTAL LEAVE

19.01 Pregnancy Leave

- a) Pregnancy leave will be granted in accordance with the provisions of the *Employment Standards Act* except where amended by this provision.
- b) The employee shall give written notification at least one (1) month in advance of the date of commencement of such leave.
- c) The employee shall reconfirm their intention to return on the date originally

approved in subsection b) above by written notification received by the Facility at least four (4) weeks in advance thereof. The employee shall be reinstated to their former position unless the position has been discontinued in which case they shall be given a comparable job.

- d) Employees newly hired to replace employees who are on approved pregnancy leave may be released and such release shall not be the subject of a grievance or arbitration.
- e) During pregnancy leave, the Employer will provide payment equal to the difference between the payments received from E.I. and 75% of the employee's average income for the previous seven (7) pay periods for fifteen (15) weeks, subject to continued government legislation and approval. In the event that legislation changes such that the E.I. contribution falls below 55%, the Employer's top-up of E.I. contributions shall not exceed 25% of the employee's normal straight time pay.

19.02 Parental Leave

- a) Parental leave will be granted in accordance with the provisions of the *Employment Standards Act* except where amended in this provision.
- b) An employee who is a parent of a child is entitled to a leave of absence without pay following the birth of a child or the child coming into the employee's custody, care and control for the first time, except where amended in this provision.
- c) An employee may begin parental leave no later than seventy-eight (78) weeks after the day the child is born, or comes into the employee's custody, care and control for the first time.
- d) An employee who has taken pregnancy leave must begin their parental leave when their pregnancy leave ends unless the child has not come into the employee's custody, care and control for the first time.
- e) An employee, who qualifies for parental leave, other than an adoptive parent, shall give written notification of at least two (2) weeks in advance of the date of the commencement of the leave and the expected date of return.
- f) An employee who has taken pregnancy leave under Article 21.01 is eligible to be granted a parental leave of up to sixty-one (61) weeks duration, in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act*. An employee who has not taken pregnancy leave and who is eligible for parental leave shall be entitled to sixty-three (63) weeks of leave under this provision.
- g) For the purposes of this article, parent shall be defined to include a person with whom a child is placed for adoption and a person who is in a relationship of

some permanence with a parent of a child and who intends to treat the child as their own.

- h) In the case of adoption, the employee who is an adoptive parent shall advise the Facility as far in advance as possible with respect to a prospective adoption and of having qualified to adopt a child and shall request the leave of absence in writing upon receipt of confirmation of the pending adoption. If, because of late receipt of confirmation of the pending adoption, the employee finds it impossible to request the leave of absence in writing, the request may be made verbally and subsequently verified in writing.
- i) Employees newly hired to replace employees who are on approved parental leave may be released and such release shall not be the subject of a grievance or arbitration.

ARTICLE 20 – BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

20.01 Upon the death of an employee's spouse which would include same sex partner, parent, child or stepchild, brother, sister, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparent, grandchild or legal guardian, an employee shall be granted up to a maximum of five (5) continuous calendar days of leave. A maximum of five (5) days shall be without loss of pay for the death of a spouse, parent, child or stepchild. A maximum of three (3) of the days shall be without loss of pay for other relatives listed above. The days granted shall be between the date of death and the day after the funeral. Additional days off with or without pay may be granted by the Facility.

Where it is necessary because of distance, the employee may apply for a personal leave of absence in addition to bereavement leave. Permission for such leave shall not be unreasonably withheld.

- **20.02** The Facility may request an employee to provide proof that the leave of absence was used for the purpose stated.
- **20.03** The parties further agree that, in the event that there is a celebration of life to be held at a later date, the employee may request that they be allowed to utilize one (1) day of their bereavement days at the time the celebration of life is held.

ARTICLE 21 – JURY OR COURT WITNESS DUTY

21.01 The Employer shall grant leave of absence without loss of seniority to an employee who serves as a juror or subpoenaed witness in any court. The Employer shall pay such an employee the difference between their normal earnings and the payment they receive for jury service or court witness duty, excluding payment for travelling, meals, or other expenses. The employee will present proof of service and the amount of pay received.

Time spent by an employee required to serve as a court witness, for the Employer and at the request of the Employer, in a matter arising out of their employment shall be considered as time worked and shall be paid at the appropriate rate of pay.

ARTICLE 22 – DISCRIMINATION CLAUSE

- **22.01** The Facility and the Union agree that there shall be no discrimination, interference, restriction or coercion exercised or practiced with respect to any employee in the matter of ancestry, race, citizenship, creed, colour, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, national origin, political or religious affiliation, family status or marital status, place of residence, nor by reason of her membership or lack of membership in the Union. Further to the above, the parties jointly affirm that every employee shall be entitled to a respectful and safe workplace.
- **22.02** The Facility and the Union agree that they shall observe and support existing legislation.
- **22.03** Workplace Harassment is defined as engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct against a worker in a workplace that is known or ought to be known to be unwelcome. (Reference *Occupational Health and Safety Act* Sec. 1(1))
- **22.04** Sexual harassment is defined as engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct against an employee in the workplace because of sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or gender expression, where the course of comment or conduct is known or reasonably to be known to be unwelcome. (Reference *Ontario Human Rights Code* Sec. 7(2) and the *Occupational Health and Safety Act*)
- **22.05** Where a bargaining unit member complains of harassment by another worker, including the complainant's supervisor, they shall bring such complaint to the attention of the Employer and the Union. The Employer will then initiate a complete investigation of the complaint and report the finding back to the complainant who shall be accompanied by a steward. It is agreed that the complaint is handled in a discreet, confidential and timely fashion.
- **22.06** In support of providing and maintaining an environment free of discrimination, harassment or sexual harassment the Employer will ensure that all staff members, volunteers and persons with the practicing privileges in the facility are informed that harassment including sexual harassment in the workplace is an offence under the law.
- **22.07** Should the complainant not be satisfied with the Employer's response they are entitled to file a grievance under the terms of this collective agreement.

ARTICLE 23 – RETIREMENT

23.01 Nursing Homes and Related Industries Pension Plan

In this Article, the terms used shall have the meanings as described.

a) "Plan" means the Nursing Homes and Related Industries Pension Plan, being a multi-employer plan.

"Applicable Wages" means the basic straight time wages for all hours worked and in addition:

- i) the straight time component of hours worked on a holiday;
- ii) holiday pay, for the hours not worked;
- iii) vacation pay;
- iv) paid sick leave;
- v) bereavement leave;
- vi) jury duty;
- vii) negotiations and grievance meetings.

All other payments, premiums, allowances, and similar payments are excluded.

"Eligible employee" means all employees in the bargaining unit who have completed nine hundred and seventy-five (975) hours of service.

b) Each eligible employee covered by the collective agreement shall contribute for each pay period an amount equal to three and one-half percent (3.5%) of applicable wages to the Plan. The Facility shall contribute on behalf of each eligible employee for each pay period, an amount equal to three and one-half percent (3.5%) of applicable wages to the Plan.

Effective November 30, 2022, each eligible employee covered by the collective agreement shall contribute for each pay period an amount equal to four percent (4%) of applicable wages to the Plan. The Facility shall contribute on behalf of each eligible employee for each pay period, an amount equal to four percent (4%) of applicable wages to the Plan.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, where an error has been made in deduction, the Facility shall, upon request, make full payment on any outstanding Facility contribution irrespective of whether the employee pays the matching amount.

The parties agree that this article in no way prejudices the position of either party as it relates to the retroactivity application if an error is discovered.

c) The employee and the Facility contributions shall be remitted by the Facility to the Plan within thirty (30) days after the end of the calendar month in which the pay period ends for which the contributions are attributable.

d) The Union acknowledges and agrees that other than making its contributions to the Plan as set out in this article, the Facility shall not be obligated to contribute toward the costs of benefits provided by the Plan or be responsible for providing any such benefits.

The Union and the Facility acknowledge and agree that under current pension legislation and/or regulations, the Facility has no requirement to fund any deficit in the agreement in the Plan but is required to contribute only that amount as required by the collective agreement in force between the parties.

It is understood and agreed by the Facility and the Union that should the current pension legislation or regulations be changed so that the Facility's obligation to contribute to the Plan exceeds the amount specified in the collective agreement then in force, the parties will meet directly to finalize methods to relieve the Facility of this increased obligation to the extent that any such obligations exceed that which the Facility would have if the Plan were a defined contribution plan.

e) The Facility agrees to provide the Plan Administrator on a timely basis with all information required pursuant to the *Pension Benefits Act* R.S.O. 1990. Ch. P-8, as amended, which the Administrator may reasonably require in order to properly record and process pension contributions and pension benefits.

For further specificity, the items required for each eligible employee by Article .05 of the agreement are:

- i) To be provided once only at Plan commencement:
 - Date of birth;
 - Date of hire;
 - Date of first contribution;
 - Seniority list to include hours from date of hire to Facility's fund entry date (for purpose of calculating past service credit).
- ii) To be provided with each remittance:
 - Name;
 - Social Insurance Number;
 - Monthly Remittance;
 - Pensionable Earnings;
 - YTD Pension Contributions;
 - Facility portion of arrears owing due to error, or late enrolment by the Facility.
- iii) To be provided once, and if status changes:
 - Full address as provided to the Facility by the employee;
 - Termination date when applicable (MM/DD/YY).

- iv) To be provided once if they are readily available:
 - Gender;
 - Marital status.
 - Any additional information requests beyond that noted above may be provided, if possible by the Facility at the expense of the Plan, unless the Facility is obligated by law to provide the information.

ARTICLE 24 – TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

24.01 In the event that the Facility introduces new methods or machines which require new or greater skills than those possessed by employees under the existing methods of operation, on the job training courses or study courses will be arranged where practical. The Facility shall give the Union thirty (30) calendar days advance notice of any planned changes as specified herein, and if requested, will discuss such changes with the Union.

ARTICLE 25 – HEALTH AND SAFETY

- **25.01** a) The Employer and the Union agree that they mutually desire to maintain standards of safety and health in the Home, in order to prevent injury and illness and abide by the *Occupational Health and Safety Act* as amended from time to time.
 - b) A Joint Health and Safety Committee (JHSC) shall be constituted in accordance with *the Act*, which shall identify potential dangers, recommend means of improving the health and safety programs and obtaining information from the Employer or other persons respecting the identification of hazards and standards. The committee shall meet at least every three (3) months or more frequently if the committee decides.

The Employer agrees to accept as a member of its Joint Health and Safety Committee at least two (2) representatives, and two (2) alternates who may participate in the absence of a representative, selected or appointed by the Union from the Employer.

Scheduled time spent in such meetings is to be considered time worked for which representative(s) shall be paid by the Employer at their regular or overtime rate.

Minutes shall be taken of all meetings and copies shall be sent to the Committee members within two (2) weeks following the meeting, if possible. Minutes of the meetings shall be posted on the workplace health & safety bulletin board.

c) The Employer shall provide the time from work with pay and all related tuition costs and expenses necessary to certify the worker representative.

Where an inspector makes an inspection of a workplace under the powers conferred upon them under the *Occupational Health and Safety Act*, the Employer shall afford a certified committee member representing workers the opportunity to accompany the inspector during their physical inspection of a workplace, or any part or parts thereof. Where a worker certified member is not on-site and available, the Employer shall afford a worker health and safety representative if any, or a worker selected by a Union, because of knowledge, experience and training, to represent it, the opportunity to accompany the inspector during their physical inspection of a workplace, or any part or parts thereof.

- d) Two (2) representatives of the Joint Health and Safety Committee, one (1) from management and one (1) from the employees, shall make monthly inspections of the workplace and shall report to the health and safety committee the results of their inspection. The members of the Committee who represent the workers shall designate a member representing workers to inspect the workplace. Where possible that member shall be a certified member. The Employer shall provide the member with such information and assistance as the member may require for the purpose of carrying out an inspection of the workplace. Scheduled time spent in all such activities shall be considered as time worked.
- e) The Joint Health and Safety Committee and the representatives thereof shall have access to Incident/Accident Report Form required in S.51, S.52 and S.53 of *the Act* and the annual summary of data from the WSIB relating to the number of work accident fatalities, the number of lost workday cases, the number of lost workdays, the number of non-fatal cases that required medical aid without lost workdays, the incidence of occupational injuries, and such other data as the WSIB may decide to disclose. It is understood and agreed that no information will be provided to the Committee which is confidential. This information shall be a standing item recorded in the minutes of each meeting.
- f) The Union will use its best efforts to obtain the full co-operation of its membership in the compliance of all safety rules and practices.
- g) The Employer will use its best efforts to make all affected direct care employees aware of residents who have serious infectious diseases. The nature of the disease need not be disclosed. Employees will be made aware of special procedures required of them to deal with these circumstances. The parties agree that all employees are aware of the requirement to practice universal precautions in all circumstances.
- h) The parties further agree that suitable subjects for discussion at the Union Management Committee and Joint Health and Safety Committee will include aggressive residents.

The Employer will review with the Joint Health and Safety Committee written policies to address the management of violent behaviour. Such policies will include but not be limited to:

- i) Designing safe procedures for employees
- ii) Providing training appropriate to these policies
- iii) Reporting all incidents of workplace violence
- i) The Employer shall:
 - i) Inform employees of any situation relating to their work which may endanger their health and safety, as soon as it learns of the said situation;
 - ii) Inform employees regarding the risks relating to their work and provide training and supervision so that employees have the skills and knowledge necessary to safely perform the work assigned to them;

When faced with occupational health and safety decisions, the Home will not await full scientific or absolute certainty before taking reasonable action(s) that reduces risk and protects employees.

- iii) Ensure that the applicable measures and procedures prescribed in the *Occupational Health and Safety Act* are carried out in the workplace.
- j) A worker shall:
 - i) Work in compliance with the provisions of the *Occupational Health and Safety Act* and the regulations;
 - ii) Use or wear the equipment, protective devices or clothing that the worker's employer requires to be used or worn;
 - iii) Report to their employer or supervisor the absence of or defect in any equipment or protective device of which the worker is aware, and which may endanger himself, herself or another worker; and
 - iv) Report to their employer or supervisor any contravention of the *Occupational Health and Safety Act* or the regulations or the existence of any hazard of which he or she knows.

k) Injured Workers Provisions

At the time an injury occurs, the injured worker's employer shall provide transportation for the worker (if the worker needs it) to a hospital or a physician located within a reasonable distance or to the worker's home. The Employer shall pay for the transportation.

I) Infectious Diseases

The Employer and the Union desire to arrest the spread of infectious diseases in the nursing home.

To achieve this objective, the Joint Health and Safety Committee may review and offer input into infection control programs and protocols including surveillance, outbreak control, isolation, precautions, worker education and training, and personal protective equipment.

The Employer will provide training and ongoing education in communicable disease recognition, use of personal protective equipment, decontamination of equipment, and disposal of hazardous waste.

- m) The Joint Health and Safety Committee will discuss and may recommend appropriate measures to promote health and safety in workplaces, including, but not limited to:
 - Musculoskeletal Injury Prevention
 - Needle Stick Injury Prevention
 - Personal Protective Equipment
 - Training designed to ensure competency under *the Act* for those persons with supervisory responsibilities.
 - Employees who regularly work alone or who are isolated in the workplace.

25.02 Violence in the Workplace

- a) The parties agree that violence shall be defined as any incident in which an employee is abused, threatened, or assaulted while performing their work. The parties agree it includes the application of force, threats with or without weapons and severe verbal abuse. The parties agree that such incidents will not be condoned. Any employee who believes they have been subjected to such incident shall report this to a supervisor who will make every reasonable effort to rectify the situation. For purposes of sub-article (a) only, employees as referred to herein shall mean all employees of the Employer notwithstanding Article 2.01.
- b) The Employer agrees to develop formalized policies and procedures in consultation with the Joint Health and Safety Committee to deal with workplace violence. The policy will address the prevention of violence and the management of violent situations and support to employees who have faced workplace violence. These policies and procedures shall be communicated to all employees. The local parties will consider appropriate measures to address violence in the workplace, which may include, among other remedies:
 - i) Alert employees about a person with a known history of aggressive

behaviours and their known triggers by means of:

- a) electronic and/or other appropriate flagging systems
- b) direct verbal communication I alerts (i.e. shift reports)
- ii) Communicate and provide appropriate training and education; and,
- iii) Reporting all incidents of workplace violence.
 - a) The Employer will report all incidents of violence as defined herein to the Joint Health and Safety Committee for review.
 - b) The Employer agrees to provide training and information on the prevention of violence to all employees who come into contact with potentially aggressive persons. This training will be done during a new employee's orientation and updated as required.
 - c) Subject to appropriate legislation, and with the employee's consent, the Employer will inform the Union within three (3) days of any employee who has been subjected to violence while performing their work. Such information shall be submitted in writing to the Union as soon as practicable.
- **25.03** The parties agree that if incidents involving aggressive client action occur, such action will be recorded and reviewed at the Occupational Health and Safety Committee. Reasonable steps within the control of the Employer will follow to address the legitimate health and safety concerns of employees presented in that forum.

It is understood that all such occurrences will be reviewed at the Resident Care Conference.

25.04 Support and Counselling

The Employer and the Union recognize that, where preventative measures have failed to prevent abusive/violent or traumatic incidents, counseling and support must be available to help employees recover from such incidents. This support shall include, but not be limited to, debriefing sessions and workplace accommodations. Critical incident stress debriefing and post traumatic counseling shall be available for any employee who has experienced or witnessed any incident of workplace violence.

ARTICLE 26 – PLURAL OR FEMININE

26.01 Where the singular or feminine/masculine is used in this agreement, it shall be considered as if the plural or feminine/masculine has been used where the context applies.

ARTICLE 27 – COPIES OF THE AGREEMENT

27.01 The Facility and the Union agree that each party shall split the cost arising from the collective agreement being printed.

ARTICLE 28 – NOTICES

28.01 Each employee shall advise their immediate supervisor and the Financial Officer of their current mailing address and telephone number and will advise of changes, if any.

ARTICLE 29 – HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

- **29.01** It is expressly understood and agreed that the provisions of this article (Article 29) are for the purposes of computing overtime, and that the statement of regular hours of work herein is not a guarantee that the work will be provided, nor that the hours of work will not be changed if found necessary or desirable by the Facility in the interest of efficiency or economy. All overtime must be authorized by the employee's Director or Manager.
- **29.02** The hours of work of each employee shall be posted in the appropriate place at least one (1) month in advance of the schedule coming into effect. The schedule will be posted in ink and an employee's days and hours will not be changed without the consent of the employee involved. The Union shall receive a copy of the said schedules on request.
- **29.03** The Facility agrees to pay all hours worked in excess of seven and one half (7.5) hours per day or seventy-five (75) hours per pay period at the overtime rate of one and one half (1.5) times the hourly rate of pay. No overtime shall be paid to an employee who works in excess of their regular scheduled hours of work, as the result of exchange of shifts for reasons of personal convenience.

The parties agree that the regular hourly rate of pay does not include the payment in lieu of benefits.

29.04 a) Scheduling of work shall be done on the basis of seniority provided that the care needs of the residents can be met and provided the employee has the skill and qualifications to perform the work available. For the filing of available shifts on the regular working schedule, prior to posting, part-time employees shall be given preference over casual employees, based on seniority, classification and availability.

b) Shift Exchanges

Employees will be permitted to exchange days off, or shifts, with other employees by completing the appropriate forms, as supplied by the Employer, and with the Employer's permission. Such permission will not be unreasonably withheld. The Employer has no obligation for any premium payment arising out of any such exchange. Where the shifts involve a shift differential, this premium shall be paid to the employee working the shift.

- c) Shifts that have become available after the schedule has been posted will be offered to employees by seniority, classification, availability and on an equitable basis.
- **29.05** Where there is a change from Daylight Savings Time to Standard Time or vice versa, an employee who is scheduled and who works a 7.5-hour tour when the time changes shall be paid for 7.5 hours rather than actual hours worked.

29.06 Shift and Weekend Premium

- a) An employee shall be paid a weekend premium of forty cents (\$0.40) per hour for each hour worked from the start of the day shift in each classification on Saturday to the start of the day shift in each classification on Monday.
- b) Employees will be paid fifty cents (\$0.50) per hour, where the majority of hours fall between the hours of 2300 and 700 hours.
- c) Employees will be paid thirty cents (\$0.30) per hour where the majority of hours fall between the hours of 1500 and 2300 hours.
- **29.07** Schedules will be determined based on the care needs of the residents and will adhere to the following:
 - a) The Facility shall arrange shift schedules so that each full-time employee shall have a free weekend every second (2nd) week and each part-time employee shall have a free weekend every second (2nd) week;
 - b) No employee shall be scheduled to work more than five (5) consecutive days and more than twenty (20) days in any four (4) week period unless agreed by the employee.
 - c) No more than two (2) shift rotations within a seven (7) day week unless agreed to by the employee.

29.08 Reporting Pay

Employees who report for any scheduled shift will be guaranteed at least four (4) hours of work, or if no work is available, will be paid at least four (4) hours except when work is not available due to conditions beyond the control of the home. The reporting allowance outlined as herein shall not apply whenever an employee has received prior notice not to report for work.

ARTICLE 30 – PAID HOLIDAYS

30.01 The following shall be recognized as paid holidays:

Good Friday	Easter Monday
Victoria Day	Canada Day
Civic Holiday	Labour Day
Thanksgiving Day	Christmas Day
Boxing Day	New Year's Day
Two (2) floating holidays	

- **30.02** A regular full-time employee who is not required to work on the above paid holidays shall receive holiday pay equal to one (1) normal days' pay, or in lieu thereof, a day off with pay at a time mutually agreeable to the Facility and the employee, provided that they have worked their full scheduled shifts immediately preceding and following the paid holiday, unless excused in writing by their supervisor.
- **30.03** The Facility may require regular full-time employees to work on paid holidays and it is agreed that they will receive time and one half (1 ¹/₂) for the time worked and, in addition, they will receive their regular holiday pay, or a lieu day off with pay at a time mutually agreeable to the Facility and the employee.
- **30.04** A regular part-time or casual employee who works on a paid holiday shall receive pay for the work performed at one and one half (1.5) times their regular hourly rate.

Holiday pay for regular part-time or casual employees will be calculated based on the *Employment Standards Act.*

The parties agree that, in calculating holiday pay for regular part-time or casual employees, pay in lieu of benefits will not be included.

30.05 When an employee is scheduled to work on a paid holiday and does not work, they shall not be paid for the holiday unless excused in writing by the Administrator or their delegate. It is understood that an employee will not be required to work their scheduled shift before or after the paid holiday if they are absent on sick leave, and they shall be deemed to have worked such shifts, provided that a doctor's certificate is made available to the Facility.

30.06 Holidays During Vacation

If a paid holiday falls or is observed during an employee's vacation period, they shall be granted an additional day's vacation with pay for each holiday, in addition to their regular vacation time.

30.07 Illness During Vacation

Where an employee's scheduled vacation is interrupted due to a serious illness requiring the employee to be in attendance at a hospital, the period of such

hospitalization shall be considered sick leave provided that the employee provides a satisfactory documentation of the illness and the hospitalization. The portion of the employee's vacation which is deemed to be sick leave under the above provision will not be counted against the employee's vacation credits.

It is understood that the Employer will reschedule vacation for an employee whose vacation would be interrupted by a serious illness occurring immediately prior to the scheduled vacation except for circumstances beyond the reasonable control of the Employer.

30.08 Christmas or New Years Off

The holiday schedule shall provide that every employee shall have at least Christmas or New Year's Day off unless an employee requests to work both.

ARTICLE 31 – VACATIONS

- **31.01** For the purpose of calculating eligibility, the vacation year shall be the period from January 1 of any year to December 31 of the following year cut-off date.
- **31.02** Employees shall receive an annual vacation with pay on the following basis:

Less than one (1) year service – one (1) day per month to a maximum of ten (10) days;

One (1) year of service but less than two (2) years of service – two (2) weeks with pay at 4% of gross wages;

Two (2) years of service but less than five (5) years of service – three (3) weeks with pay at 6% of gross wages;

Five (5) years of service but less than fifteen (15) years of service - four (4) weeks with pay at 8% of gross wages;

Fifteen (15) years of service but less than twenty (20) years of service – five (5) weeks with pay at 10% of gross wages;

Twenty (20) years of service but less than twenty-six (26) years of service - six (6) weeks with pay at 12% of gross wages;

More than twenty-six (26) years of service – seven (7) weeks with pay at 14% of gross wages.

For regular part-time and casual employees, 1725 hours worked equals one (1) year.

31.03 It is understood that in calculating vacation pay, no account shall be taken of any vacation pay previously paid.

- **31.04** The Facility shall determine the period when an employee may take the entitled vacation. Subject to this, the following process will be used:
 - a) Employees shall submit vacation requests by November 1st of each year for vacation scheduling between January 1st and June 15th of the following year. Vacation schedules shall be posted by December 1st of each year.
 - b) Employees shall submit vacation requests by April 1st of each year for vacation scheduling between June 15th and December 31st of the current year. Vacation schedules shall be posted by May 1st of each year.
 - c) Requests shall be granted on the basis of seniority in a) and b) above.
 - d) An employee shall be entitled to receive their vacation in an unbroken period unless otherwise mutually agreed upon between the employee concerned and the Facility.
 - e) Vacation schedules shall not be changed unless mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Facility.
 - f) For clarity, it is understood that in the event an employee submits their vacation request after November 1st or April 1st, those requests shall be considered in the order that they are received.
 - g) Employees shall be able to request single vacation days to a maximum of five
 (5) per calendar year. For clarity, it is understood that this shall be paid vacation time.
- **31.05** A full-time employee shall receive their vacation pay in the regular pay cycle. In addition, all vacation credits must be used in the current vacation year.

All vacation pay for regular part-time and casual employees will be paid out on a biweekly basis and calculated as a percentage of vacation amount as per 31.02 and added to their regular pay cheques.

- **31.06** A full-time employee who terminates before completing one (1) year of service shall receive 4% of gross wages calculated from the first day employed.
- **31.07** Any vacation earned and not used due to operational requirements shall be paid out during the final pay period of the year.

ARTICLE 32 – RULES AND REGULATIONS

32.01 The employee shall abide by and comply with all rules and regulations as provided by

the Facility unless such rules and regulations conflict with this agreement, in which case the agreement shall be binding.

32.02 The Facility and the Union agree that they shall observe and support existing legislation.

ARTICLE 33 - BREAKS

33.01 The Facility agrees that, in each scheduled workday of 7.5 hours, the employee shall be entitled to a one-half (1/2) hour unpaid lunch break after five (5) hours of work, and two (2) fifteen (15) minute paid coffee breaks, one (1) to be taken during the first half of the shift and the second to be taken during the latter half of the shift.

If the scheduled workday is less than 7.5 hours, the employee shall be entitled to a one-half (1/2) hour unpaid lunch break after five (5) hours of work and one (1) fifteen (15) minute paid coffee break.

Employees shall be allowed to take their full lunch break uninterrupted except in cases of emergency. In such cases, the employee will be given additional time off without pay before the end of the shift to compensate for such interruption.

ARTICLE 34 – WAGES

- **34.01** Employee's hourly rates shall be paid in accordance with Appendix "A" attached hereto and forming part of this agreement.
- **34.02** The Employer agrees that wages will be paid bi-weekly.

Each employee shall be provided with an itemized statement of the employee's wages, overtime and other supplementary pay and deductions. The employee's hourly rate is to be placed on the cheque stub.

If the employer makes an error in the pay the following applies:

If the amount of the error is equal to or greater than the employee's normal gross wages for a day of work, the Employer will provide the adjustment payment promptly. The objective is to deliver the payment within three (3) business days of the error being brought to the Employer's attention. Errors for lesser amounts will normally be corrected on the next pay.

If the pay error is a result of an employee error, it will be corrected on the next pay.

- **34.03** Where an RPN is assigned as a charge nurse, they shall be paid an extra \$5.50 per hour for all hours worked.
- 34.04 Retroactive payment to employees relating to a general wage increase shall be paid

within thirty (30) calendar days from the date of ratification of the collective agreement or as awarded by a Board of Arbitration.

Employees who have left their employment will be notified by prepaid post within sixty (60) days from the date of ratification or an award by a Board of Arbitration addressed to their last known address. Entitlement is lost if not claimed within thirty (30) calendar days from the date of the letter from the facility. The Union shall receive a copy of all notices sent to former employees.

34.05 Benefits/Lieu for Part-time

All eligible regular part-time and causal employees will receive ten (10%) percent of regular wages for each hour worked, above their regular rate of pay in lieu of all benefits.

Eligible employees include casual employees and part-time employees regularly employed for less than fifteen (15) hours per week.

Part-time employees that made the one-time choice to remain with in-lieu of benefits, April 2016 will be grandfathered to continue to receive this in lieu.

ARTICLE 35 – GENERAL PROVISIONS

35.01 Where employees are required by the Facility to take courses to upgrade or acquire new employment qualifications, the Facility shall pay the full cost associated with the courses.

35.02 Payment for In-Service

The Employer agrees to pay employees who are required by the Employer to attend in-service sessions at their straight time hourly rate for all hours in attendance at such sessions. Such payment shall not be subject to the overtime provisions of the collective agreement.

35.03 Surge Learning

When the Employer requires training outside of working hours it will compensate employees.

- **35.04** a) Kitchen staff who wear aprons in their work shall be provided with same free of charge.
 - b) The Facility agrees to pay uniform/shoe allowance up to a maximum of one hundred and thirty-five \$135.00 per year (reimbursement basis) to all full-time employees.
 - c) The Facility agrees to pay uniform/shoe allowance up to a maximum of eighty dollars (\$80.00) per year (reimbursement basis) to all part time employees.

35.05 Employee Assistance Program

All employees, spouses and eligible dependants of employees will be able to access the Employee Assistance Program (EAP), of which the full cost shall be the responsibility of the Employer. The Employer will provide information describing the program to employees.

ARTICLE 36 – TERM OF THE AGREEMENT

- **36.01** a) This agreement shall be binding and remain in effect until March 31, 2026 and shall continue from year to year thereafter, unless either party gives the other party, notice in writing as provided in Article 36.01 b) in any year that it desires its termination or amendment.
 - b) Either party desiring to propose changes to this agreement shall, within ninety (90) calendar days prior to the termination date, give notice to the other party that it desires the termination or amendment of the agreement.

36.02 Changes to the Collective Agreement

It is understood that in the event the parties agree to amend any term or condition in this collective agreement, the parties shall negotiate a Letter of Understanding. The Letter of Understanding shall be subject to ratification by both parties prior to coming into effect.

The signatories to the Letter of Understanding shall be the Administrator of the facility and may include up to two (2) other Facility representatives as determined by the Facility, and the President or designate, the Unit Chairperson and the CUPE National Representative from the Union.

ARTICLE 37 – GROUP BENEFITS

- **37.01** The Facility agrees to pay the indicated percentage of premiums of the following group benefits for full-time employees who have completed their probationary period and who qualify under the terms of the said plans provided the employee pays the remaining premium:
 - a) One hundred percent (100%) of the billed premium for group life insurance coverage for an amount equal to \$15,000;

Effective January 18, 2022, Full-time Life Insurance – Life insurance benefit to be increased for full-time employees from \$15,000.00 to one times (1X) an employee's annual earnings.

The facility agrees to pay for all part-time employees one hundred percent

(100%) of the billed premium for group life insurance coverage equal to \$15,000.

- b) One hundred percent (100%) of the billed premium for AD&D coverage for an amount equal to \$15,000;
- c) One hundred percent (100%) of the billed premium for an extended health plan providing prescription drugs (no co-insurance) to a maximum of \$1,500.00 annually per person and \$300 annually for orthotics coverage;

Effective January 18, 2022, one hundred percent (100%) of the billed premium for an extended health plan providing prescription drugs (no co-insurance) to a maximum of \$2,000.00 annually per person and \$300 annually for orthotics coverage;

- d) One hundred (100%) of the billed premium for a basic dental plan (equivalent to Blue cross #9) providing a cap on dental benefits at \$2000.00 annually per person with no deductible, no co-insurance and current ODA rates;
- e) One hundred percent (100%) of the billed premium for a vision care plan in the amount of \$200.00 every twenty-four months.

Effective January 18, 2022, one hundred percent (100%) of the billed premium for a vision care plan in the amount of \$250.00 every twenty-four months.

- g) Effective January 18, 2022, \$500.00 for massage.
- **37.02** It is agreed that if an employee fails to perform work for the Facility by reason of sickness, accident or approved leave of absence (except pregnancy/parental leave) for a period of up to two (2) months, the Facility will continue to pay its premiums noted in Article 37.01. After two (2) months, the employee will become responsible for the entire premium for a maximum of a further ten (10) months.
- **37.03** The facility agrees to provide benefits to part-time employees who are regularly employed for fifteen (15) or more hours a week. The benefit plan shall be the same as for full-time employees. The facility shall pay 100% of the extended health and dental premiums for part-time employees.

37.04 Master Policy

The Union shall be provided with a current copy of the Master Policy of all insured benefits.

37.05 Change of Carriers

It is understood that the Employer may at any time substitute another carrier for any plan, provided the benefits remain the same. Before making such a substitution, the Employer shall notify the Union to explain the proposed change and to ascertain the views of the employees. Upon request by the Union, the Employer shall provide to the Union full specification of the Benefit Programs contracted for and in effect for employees covered herein.

Electronically signed this 17th day of June 2024.

For the Union	For the Home
Karen Shimoda Karen Shimoda (Jun 18, 2024 14:37 EDT)	Pat Cervoni Pat Cervoni (Jun 17, 2024 15:56 EDT)
Kim Bowslauter	
0. (Jul 9, 2024 10.26 EDT)	
Liza Hermosisima (Jun 20, 2024 14:13 EOT)	
Par Mendoza (Jun 23, 2024 09:35 EDT)	
UA-	

APPENDIX "A" – WAGES

		Current	April 1, 2023	April 1, 2024	Date of Ratification	April 1, 2025
			(3.5%)	(3.5%)	(\$1.50)	(3.5%)
	Start	\$27.78	\$28.75	\$29.75	\$31.25	\$32.35
RPN	After 1725 hours worked	\$28.06	\$29.04	\$30.05	\$31.55	\$32.66
RPN	After 3450 hours worked	\$28.62	\$29.62	\$30.65	\$32.15	\$33.28
	After 5175 hours worked	\$29.23	\$30.25	\$31.31	\$32.81	\$33.96
	Start	\$24.96	\$25.83	\$26.73		\$27.67
PSW, RCCC, HCA,	After 1725 hours worked	\$25.25	\$26.13	\$27.04		\$27.99
Restorative	After 3450 hours worked	\$25.88	\$26.78	\$27.72		\$28.69
	After 5175 hours worked	\$26.43	\$27.35	\$28.31		\$29.30
	Start	\$24.35	\$25.20	\$26.08		\$26.99
Cook	After 1725 hours worked	\$24.65	\$25.51	\$26.40		\$27.32
COOK	After 3450 hours worked	\$24.84	\$25.70	\$26.60		\$27.54
	After 5175 hours worked	\$25.37	\$26.25	\$27.17		\$28.12
	Start	\$21.48	\$22.23	\$23.00		\$23.81
Kitchen Laundry	After 1725 hours worked	\$21.78	\$22.54	\$23.33		\$24.14
Housekeeping	After 3450 hours worked	\$22.35	\$23.13	\$23.94		\$24.77
	After 5175 hours worked	\$22.87	\$23.67	\$24.49		\$25.35
	Start	\$21.75	\$22.51	\$23.29		\$24.11
Nurse's Aide	After 1725 hours worked	\$22.01	\$22.78	\$23.57		\$24.39
Activity Aide	After 3450 hours worked	\$22.58	\$23.37	\$24.18		\$25.03
	After 5175 hours worked	\$23.12	\$23.92	\$24.76		\$25.63

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1

The parties agree that, for the life of this collective agreement, if the Chief Steward is not an employee of the Facility, they may assist the stewards in preparing and in presenting a grievance in accordance with the grievance procedure.

It is further agreed that, in the event the Chief Steward is not an employee of the Facility, all costs related to the participation of the Chief Steward at the Facility shall be the responsibility of the Union.

Electronically signed this 17th day of June 2024.

For the Union	For the Home
Karen Shimoda Karen Shimoda (Jun 18, 2024 14:37 EDT)	Pat Cervoni Pat Cervoni (Jun 17, 2024 15:56 EDT)
Kim Bowshilly (7, 2024 16-37 EDT)	
F 1 (7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7	
Liza Hernosisima (Jun 20, 2024 14:13 EDT)	
Ray 7 - 44 / 7 Paz Mendoza (Jun 23, 2024 09:35 EDT)	
14A-	

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #2

Between:

CAMA Woodlands (hereinafter referred to as "The Employer")

and

The Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local 1404, (hereinafter referred to as "the Union")

As a result of the Employer introducing Go Easy Care, a new software being introduced with varying functions, including scheduling, within the workplace, the parties have agreed to this one-time only process:

The parties agree to meet within ninety (90) days of implementation to review the outstanding concerns including, but not limited to, electronic notification of job postings to all bargaining unit employees as well as confirmation of awarded open shifts. Such review and discussion will consider and confirm that employees are receiving electronic notification of available bargaining unit positions as well as notifying employees when they express interest in picking up a shift that they were not successful in picking up the shift based on the scheduling provisions as currently outlined in the Collective Agreement. Any and all agreements reached during this review shall not alter or waive management rights as outlined in Article 4 of the Collective Agreement.

Signed in Burlington, Ontario on this 17th day of June 2024.

For the Union	For the Employer
Karen Shimoda Karen Shimoda (Jun 18, 2024 14:37 EDT)	Pat Cervoni Pat Cervoni (Jun 17, 2024 15:56 EDT)
Kim Bowskof TT 17,2024 16:37 EDT)	
Terregre (Jul 9, 2024 19:26 EDT)	
Liza Hermosisima (Jun 20, 2024 14:33 EDT)	
Paz Mendoza (Jun 23, 2024 09-35 EDT)	
1A-	

Collective Agreement L1404-05 CAMA Woodlands Expiry 2026 03 31

Final Audit Report

2024-07-09

Quartert	0004 00 47	
Created:	2024-06-17	
By:	Maya Avelino (n	navelino@cupe.ca)
Status:	Signed	
Transactio	n ID: CBJCHBCAABA	AAY_MjOL2OexzZLIMcA4jNcbqNR-gZIfEq

"Collective Agreement L1404-05 CAMA Woodlands Expiry 2026 03 31" History

- Document created by Maya Avelino (mavelino@cupe.ca) 2024-06-17 - 7:47:43 PM GMT
- Document emailed to Karen Shimoda (president@cupe1404.org) for signature 2024-06-17 - 7:47:51 PM GMT
- Document emailed to Kim Bowslaugh (vicepresident@cupe1404.org) for signature 2024-06-17 7:47:51 PM GMT
- Document emailed to Ruchia Beyle (cama.unitchair@cupe1404.org) for signature 2024-06-17 - 7:47:52 PM GMT
- Document emailed to Liza Hermosisima (liza.hermosisima@cupe1404.org) for signature 2024-06-17 7:47:52 PM GMT
- Document emailed to Paz Mendoza (paz.mendoza@outlook.com) for signature 2024-06-17 - 7:47:52 PM GMT
- Document emailed to Chris Fairweather (cfairweather@cupe.ca) for signature 2024-06-17 7:47:52 PM GMT
- Document emailed to Pat Cervoni (p.cervoni@camawoodlands.ca) for signature 2024-06-17 7:47:53 PM GMT
- Email viewed by Ruchia Beyle (cama.unitchair@cupe1404.org) 2024-06-17 - 7:53:30 PM GMT
- Email viewed by Pat Cervoni (p.cervoni@camawoodlands.ca) 2024-06-17 - 7:55:29 PM GMT

Adobe Acrobat Sign

Ø _e	Document e-signed by Pat Cervoni (p.cervoni@camawoodlands.ca) Signature Date: 2024-06-17 - 7:56:23 PM GMT - Time Source: server
1	Email viewed by Kim Bowslaugh (vicepresident@cupe1404.org) 2024-06-17 - 8:36:13 PM GMT
Óe	Document e-signed by Kim Bowslaugh (vicepresident@cupe1404.org) Signature Date: 2024-06-17 - 8:37:07 PM GMT - Time Source: server
1	Email viewed by Paz Mendoza (paz.mendoza@outlook.com) 2024-06-17 - 10:50:59 PM GMT
1	Email viewed by Chris Fairweather (cfairweather@cupe.ca) 2024-06-18 - 12:37:11 PM GMT
Óg	Document e-signed by Chris Fairweather (cfairweather@cupe.ca) Signature Date: 2024-06-18 - 12:38:39 PM GMT - Time Source: server
1	Email viewed by Karen Shimoda (president@cupe1404.org) 2024-06-18 - 6:34:21 PM GMT
Óg	Document e-signed by Karen Shimoda (president@cupe1404.org) Signature Date: 2024-06-18 - 6:37:03 PM GMT - Time Source: server
1	Email viewed by Liza Hermosisima (liza.hermosisima@cupe1404.org) 2024-06-20 - 6:01:20 PM GMT
Óe	Document e-signed by Liza Hermosisima (liza.hermosisima@cupe1404.org) Signature Date: 2024-06-20 - 6:13:29 PM GMT - Time Source: server
ÓG	Document e-signed by Paz Mendoza (paz.mendoza@outlook.com) Signature Date: 2024-06-23 - 1:35:45 PM GMT - Time Source: server
1	Email viewed by Ruchia Beyle (cama.unitchair@cupe1404.org) 2024-07-09 - 2:22:55 PM GMT
Óg	Document e-signed by Ruchia Beyle (cama.unitchair@cupe1404.org) Signature Date: 2024-07-09 - 2:26:49 PM GMT - Time Source: server
0	Agreement completed. 2024-07-09 - 2:26:49 PM GMT

, Adobe Acrobat Sign